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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

LOUISIANA WHOLESALE DRUG CO., ) 
lNC., on behalf ofitsel:r and all others ) 
similarly situated, ) 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

SCHERING-PLOUGH CORPORATION; 
UPSHER-SMITH LABORATORIES; 
and AMERICAN HOME PRODUCTS 
CORPORATION, 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

MDL No: 1419 

PLAJNTIFF DEMANDS A 
TRIAL BY JURY 

FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION CO:MPLAINT 

The above-captioned plaintiff, whose address appears in Paragraph 2, on its own 

behalf and on behalf of all others similarly situated, upon information and belief, based upon the 

investigation of its counsel, except as to the allegations that pertain to the plaintiff, which are 

based upon personal lmowledge, alleges as follows: 

I. NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This case involves illegal, horizontal market allocation agreements entered into by 

the manufacturer of a widely used brand-name prescription drug with two of its generic 

competitors. The brand name manufacturer paid its rivals to keep cheaper generic substitutes off 

the market. Plaintiff brings this antitrust class action on behalf of itself and all other direct 

purchasers of the brand name drug at issue, namely, 20 milliequivalent extended-release 
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potassium chloride tablets lmown as "K-Dur 20," from defendant Schering-Plough Corporation 

("Schering"), since November 20, 1998. Sehcring entered into a series of illegal, horizontal 

market allocation and price-fixing agreements with its co-defendants, Upsher-Smith Laboratories 

("Up.sher") and American Home Products Corporation ("AHP"), to prevent or delay the entry of 

generic substitutes for K-Dur 20 and ·to allocate the United States market for 20 milliequivalent 

extended-release potassium.chloride tablets and capsules entirely to Schering. 

Specifically, Schering agreed to pay Upsher and AHP a total of $90 million - $60 

million to Upsher, $30 million to AHP - in exchange for their agreement to drop their patent 

challenges and stay off the market for four and seven years respectively. The $90 million 

payments were not for any legitimate purpose, such as saving litigation costs. (Indeed, the $90 

million payments exceeded Schering's expected future litigation costs at least 30 times over). 

Rather, the $90 million payments were for the specific anticompetitive purpose of delaying 

generic entry. 

Moreover, Defendants specifically intended to conceal their anticompetitive purpose and 

shield the agreements from antitrust scrutiny, by (a) including in the agreements cross-licenses of 

foreign rights to various products from Upsher and AHP to Schering, and (b) claiming that much 

(but not all) of the $90 million payments by Schering were for those cross-licensed products, 

rather than for Upsher's and AHP's agreement to stay off the market. As detailed below, 

Schering knew at the time of the agreements that these cross-licenses were virtually worthless. 

In fact, eight days before executing the Upsher agreement, Schering had consciously and 

emphatically declined an opportunity to market a product ( called Niaspan) which was in the same 

therapeutic area as, but vastly superior to, the primary product cross-licensed by Upsher to 
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Schering ( called Niacor SR). Predictably, Schering made no sales of four of the five cross

licensed products, and only insignificant sales of the fifth. This result 'Nas of no great concern to 

Schering, because the purpose of the cross-licenses was not to generate revenue for Schering, but 

rather to conceal the anticompetitive purpose of the agreements. Not coincidentally, the 

payments to Upsher for the cross-licenses - $60 million -were almost exactly the amount 

demanded by Upsher's CEO at the beginning of the settlement negotiations in exchange for 

Upsher's agreement to stay off the market. 

II. PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff Louisiana Wholesale Drug Company, fuc. ("Louisiana Wholesale") is a 

corporation organized under the laws of the State of Louisiana and is located at 2085 I-49, South 

Service Road, Sunset, Louisiana 70584. Plaintiff Louisiana Wholesale purchased the 

prescription drug K-Dur 20 directly from defendant Schering during the Class Period, as defined 

below. 

3. Defendant Schering is a New Jersey corporation wfrh its principal place of 

business at 2000 Galloping Hill Road, Kenilworth, New Jersey. Schering is engaged in the 

discovery, development and marketing of brand-name and generic drugs, as well as over-the

counter healthcare and animal care products. Schering's net sales for 1999 were approximately 

$9.2 billion. Throughout the Class Period, as defined below, Schering manufactured and sold 

substantial quantities ofK-Dur 20 in a continuous flow of interstate trade and commerce, and 

Schering's activities complained of herein were within the flow of, and substantially affected 

interstate trade and commerce. 

4. Defendant Upsher is a Minnesota corporation with its principal place of business 
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at 14905 23rd Avenue North, Plymouth, Minnesota. Upsher is engaged in the discovery, 

development and marketing of brand name and genexic drugs. Upsher's activities complained of 

herein were within the flow of and su~stantially affected interstate trade and commerce. 

5. Defendant ARP is a Delaware corporation with its principalplace of business ~t 5 

Giralda Farms, Madison, New Jersey. (On March 11, 2002, ARP became Wyeth. The location of 
-....:..,. . . 

·the principal place of business did not change: For ease of association, this Defendant will 

. continue to be referred to herein as A.HP). A.HP engages in the discovery, development and 

marketing of brand-name and generic drugs, as well as over-the-counter medications. A.HP had 

net sales of $13.5 billion in 1999. AHP's activities complained of herein were within the flow of 

and substantially affected interstate trade and commerce. ESI Lederle, Inc. ("ESI") is a division 

of AHP, and engages in the research, manufacture and sale primarily of generic drugs. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Complaint is filed and these proceedings are instituted under Sections 4 of 

the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15, to recover treble damages and costs of suit, including 

reasonable attorney's fees, for the injuries sustained by plaintiff and members of the Class 

resulting from defendants' violations of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. The 

jurisdiction of the Court is based upon 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337(a), and 15 U.S.C. §§ 15. 

7. Defendants are found or transact business within this District, and the interstate 

trade and commerce, hereinafter described, is carried out, in substantial part, in this District. A 

substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this District. 

Venue is proper within this District under 15 U.S.C. § 22, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c). 

IV. FACTUAL AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 
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A. Federal Regulation of Prescription Drugs 

8. hi 1984, Congress enacted the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term 

Restoration Act, 98 Stat. 1585, 21 U.S.C. § 355 (the "Hatch-Waxman Act"). The Hatch

Waxman Act amended the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. §§ 301-392, which 

provided that drug manufacturers seeldng to bring a new prescription drug to market must file a 

New Drug Application ("NDA") and obtain approval from the Food and Drug Administration 

(''FDA") before marketing or selling the drug in the United States. An NOA requires the 

submission of specific data concerning the safety and effectiveness of the drug, as well as 

information about applicable patents, if any. The drug that is the subject of an NDA is 

sometimes referred to as a "pioneer" or "brand-name" drug, and its manufacturer as the "pioneer" 

or "brand-name" company. 

9. The Hatch-Waxman Act provided that companies that subsequently sought to 

produce a generic version of a previously approved pioneer prescription drug could do so without 

filing an NDA. Instead, the company could file an Abbreviated New Drug Application 

("ANDA"). 

10. The ANDA applicant is permitted to rely on the findings of safety and 

effectiveness applicable to the original NDA. A generic that is approved by the FDA and 

certified as bioequivalent to the pioneer drug is considered to be a perfect or near-perfect 

substitute for the pioneer drug. 

11. An ANDA must include a statement of the applicant's position regarding any 

patents potentially applicable to the drug at issue. The applicant must certify: (1) that no patent 

for the pioneer drug has been filed; or (2) that the patent for the pioneer drug has expired; or (3) 
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that the patent for the pioneer drug will expire by a date certain; or ( 4) that the patent for the 

pioneer dmg is invalid or not infiing@d. These are known as "Pmagraph I," "Paragraph IT," 

"Paragraph ill," au_d "Paragraph IV" certifications, respectively. See 21 U.S.C. § 

355G)(2)(A)(vii). 

12. If the generic company makes a Paragraph IV certification, it must notify the 

NDA owner of the ANDA application. If the patent owner initiates no action for patent 

infringement within 45 days ofreceiving the notification, the FDA may approve the ANDA. 

However, if a timely patent infringement suit is initiated within 45 days, FDA approval is 

postponed for thirty (30) months, or until the matter is adjudicated in the ANDA applicant's 

favor, or the patent at issue expires, whichever first occurs. See 21 U.S.C. § 355G)(5)(B)(iii). 

13. The Hatch-Waxman Act also provides that the firm that first files au ANDA for a 

generic version of a brand name drug with a Paragraph IV Certification may obtain a 180-day 

period of market exclusivity. No other company may bring a generic for that same pioneer drug 

· to market until the 180-day exclusivity period has expired. The period does not begin to run, 

however, until the first generic company either begins to market its generic drug, or, in the event 

of patent litigation, when the generic company receives a patent infringement decision in its 

favor, whichever occurs first. 

0

14. If neither triggering condition is satisfied, however, then the 180-dayperiod does 

not begin to run at all, thereby effectively blocking other companies from bringing a generic for 

that same pioneer drug to market until the pioneer drug manufacturer's patent or patents expire. 

B. The Impact of Generic Competition 

15. FDA-approved generics typically are much cheaper than their brand-name 
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counterparts, and typically capture a large portion of the market quite rapidly. The price 

differential and the extent of market penetration typically increase substantially as additional 

generic manufacturers enter the market. 

16. Every state, by statute and/or by regulation, permits or encourages pharmacies to 

substitute FDA-approved generics for brand-name drugs when filling prescriptions. 

17. Many third-party payors of prescription drugs ( e.g., managed care plans, Medicaid . 

programs) encourage. or insist on the use of generic drugs as substitutes for their brand-name 

counterparts. 

18. These factors contribute to an immediate and strong demand for FDA-approved 

generics for popular prescription drugs. Consequently, direct purchasers of a brand name drug, 

such as wholesalers, face strong incentives and pressures to substitute their purchases of a brand 

name drug w.ith purchases of an FDA-approved generic, once the generic is available, in order to 

satisfy the demand. 

C. Potassium Chloride Supplements 

19. Potassium chloride supplements are used to treat patients with depleted potassium 

levels, a condition that typically occurs when people take certain medications to lower blood 

pressure. Depleted potassium levels can cause dangerous cardiac problems. 

20. Patie.nts who suffer from depleted potassium levels have no practical alternative 

other than to take potassium chloride supplements. 

21. For clinical reasons, among others, physicians and patients prefer 20 

milliequivalent extended-release potassium chloride tablets over other forms and dosages of 

potassium chloride. 

7 



A-213

22. Schering manufactures and markets two extended-release micro-encapsulated 

potassium chloride products: K Dur 20 milliequivalent ("K-Dm 20") and K-Dm 10 

milliequivalent ("K-Dur 10"). Both products are marketed as brand-name drugs. 

23. Potassium chloride, the active ingredient in Schering's potassium chloride 

supplements, is not patented, and is in the public domain 

' . 

24. Schering's K-Dur 20 and K-Dur 10 are covered by a formulation patent owned by 

Schering, patent number 4,863,743 (the '"743 patent"), which claims a controllt;:d release 

potassium chloride tablet. The '743 patent expires on September 5, 2006. 

25. The allegedly novel aspect of the '743 patent is the composition of the coating 

material. 

26. Prior to Upsher's entry into this market on September 1, 2001, Schering had 

nearly 70% of the sales of all potassium chloride supplements. In 1998, Schering's sales of its 

two K-Dur products topped $220 million. 

27. Schering's K-Dur 20 had 100% of the sales of20 milliequivalent extended-release 

potassium chloride tablets and capsules until entry into that market by Upsher, on September 1, 

2001. 

28. Although other potassium chloride supplements exist, none significantly 

constrained Schering's pricing of its K-Dur 20 product to or near the competitive level. 

V. DEFENDANTS' ILLEGAL CONDUCT 

A. Schering's 743 Patent 

29. Schering's '743 Patent issued from United States Application Serial No. 830,981 
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("the '981 application"), which was filed February 19, 1986. 

recited: 

30. The broadest originally filed claim in the '981 Application was Claim 1, which 

A dosage unit for oral administration of potassium chloride 
comprising: 

a plurality of coated potassium chloride crystals, the amount 
of potassium chloride being in the range ofabout 68% to about 86.5% 
by weight based on the total weight of the dosage unit; 

a coating material for the individual potassium chloride 
crystals, the coating material comprising ethylcellulose in an amount 
in the range of about 9% to about 15% by weight based on the total 
weight of the coated crystals and at least one member selected from 
hydroxypropylcellulose and polyethylene glycol in an amount in the 
range of about O .5% to about 3 % by weight based on the total weight 
of the coated crystals. 

The '981 Application, Claim 1 at page 19 (emphasis added). Although originally-filed Claim 1 

required the use of a specific quantity of ethylcellulose in the coating material for the drug product, 

originally-filed Claim 1 did not specify any properties or grade of the ethylcellulose. 

31. In the First and Second Office Actions, the United States Patent and Trademark 

Office ("USPTO") examiner rejected originally-filed Claim 1 as unpateutable based upon Schering' s 

own United States Patent No. 4,555,399 ("the '399 Patent"). Like the '981 Application, the '399 

Patent described and claimed an extended release drug product formulated with ethylcellulose. The 

'399 Patent expressly disclosed an extended release drug product formulated with Ethocel N-10, an 

ethylcellulose having a viscosity between 9 and 11 centipoise ( cp ). (Centipoise is a measurement of 

dynamic viscosity, which is a property of fluids and slurries that indicates their resistance to flow). 

32. In response to the Second Office Action, Schering narrowed Claim 1 of the '981 
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Application to require, inter alia, a specific grade of ethylcellulose having a viscosity greater than 40 

A pharmaceutical dosage unit in tablet form for oral administration of 
potassium chloride comprising: 

a plurality of.coated potassium chloride crystals, the amount 
of potassium chloride being in the range ofabout 68% to about 86.5% 

. by"weight based on the total weight of the dosage unit;· 

........ . a coating material for· the individual potassium chloride 
crystals; the coating material comprising ethyl cellulose in an amount 
in the range of about 9% to about 15% by weight based on the total 
weight of the coated crystals and at least one member selected from 
hydroxypropylcellulose and polyethylene glycol in an amount in the 
range of about 0.5% to about 3% by weight based on the total weight 
of the coated crystals and said ethylcellulose has a viscosity greater 
than40 cp. 

Amendment Under 37 C.F.R. § 1.111 filed March 11, 1989 ("Schering's Response to the Second 

Office Action") at 1 - 2 ( emphasis added). 

33. In Schering' s Response to the Second Office Action, Schering distinguished the '399 

Patent from amended Claim 1 based upon the newly added viscosity limitation: 

A careful analysis of [the '399 Patent) would not lead one skilled in 
the art to utilize an ethylcellulose polymer having a viscosity greater 
than 40 cp and preferably a viscosity of about 85 - 110 cp to produce 
a sustained release potassium chloride tablet . . . . [T]here is no 
teaching or indication [in the '399 Patent] as to the type or grade of 
ethylcellulose that can be utilized in preparing the aspirin tablet of the 
invention. The only information of the type or grade of ethylcellulose 
used in preparing the coated aspirin material is in Example 1 ( column 
3, lines 7_-8) wherein it is stated that the ethylcellulose is 'Ethylcel N-
10 (Dow)' [which is later described as having a viscosity of 9 - 11 
cp]. The grade of ethylcellulose utilized in practicing the present 
invention is important to obtain potassium chloride tablets exhibiting 
controlled release properties. 

Schering's Response to the Second Office Action at 4- 5. 
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34. Tirroughout Schering's.Response to the Second Office Action, Schering repeatedly . 

highlighted the critical nature of the ethylcellulose viscosity. For example, Schering stated. 

There is no teaching [in the '399 Patent or other cited prior art 
references] that crystals of potassium chloride coated with a 
combination of polymeric materials containing ethyl cellulose having 
a viscosity greater than 40 cp would provide a compressed tablet 
exhibiting sustained release properties whereas a similar compressed 
tablet made from potassium chloride crystals coated with a material 
containing an ethylcellulose polymer having a viscosity of 9 - 11 cp 
·would not exhibit sustained release characteristics. 

Schering's Response to the Second Office Action at 7 (emphasis added). 

35. Similarly, Schering argued: 

The Examiner's attention is directed to Example 1 and Table I on 
pages 12 - 13 of the specification. The data reported in Table I· 
compares dissolution test results of potassium chloride crystals coated 
with Ethocel IO ( ethylcellulose viscosity of 9- 11 cp; see Attachment 
A - which is a copy of Dow Chemical Co. bulletin describing the 
Ethocel® products) and polyethylene giycol, antl'tablets made from 
said coated crystals. Although the coated crystals exhibit sustained 
release characteristics, the tablets made from said crystals do not 
exhibit sustained release properties. The table reports results 
obtained when potassium chloride crystals are coated with Ethocel 
100 ( ethylcellulose, viscosity 85 - 110 cp). in place of Ethocel 10. 
The results indicate that both the coated crystals and the tablet made 
therefrom exhibit sustained-release characteristics. 

Schering' s Response to the Second Office Action at 5. Thus, Schering stressed the lack of 

interchangeability and lack of equivalency between a high viscosity grade of ethylcellulose (i.e., 

Ethocel 100) and a lower viscosity grade of ethylcellulose (i.e., Ethocel 10). 

36. The Dow Ethocel® product brochure referenced as Attachment A in Schering's 

Response to the Second Office Action described nine different grades of ethylcellulose, each having 

different viscosity properties. Schering' s viscosity amendment to originally-filed Claim 1 in the '981 
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Application encompassed five of those grades of ethylcellulose (Ethocel 45, 60, 70, 100, and 200®) 

and specifically excluded the remaining :tb:ur grades (Ethocel 4, 7, 10 and 20®). According to the 

Dow Ethocel® product brochure, the Ethocel 20® ethylcellulose Schering disclaimed through the 

amendment to Claim 1 of the '981 Application possesses a viscosity of between 18 and 22 cp. 

37. The clear message from the amendments and accompanying remarks in Schering's 

Response to the Second Office Action is that ethylcellulose possessing a viscosity of 40 cp or greater 

was a critical component of the invention and the central feature distinguishing amended Claim 1 

from the'"'prior art. 

38. Shortly after Schering's Response to the Second Office Action~ the examiner issued a 

Notice of Allowance indicating that amended Claini 1 was allowed. The '743 Patent issued 

thereafter on September 5, 1989. 

B. Upsher's ANDA and Paragraph IV Certification 

39. In August 1995, defendant Upsher filed an ANDA to market "Klar-Con M20," a 

generic version of Schering's K-Dur 20. Upsher was the first to file an ANDA for a generic 

version ofK-Dur 20. Upsher re-submitted its ANDA on November 3, 1995, and included a 

Paragraph IV Certification. The Paragraph IV Certification detailed the reasons why Upsher 

believed that its generic product did not infringe the '743 patent, including the fact that 

Schering's patent covered ethylcellulose with a viscosity over 40 cp, while Upsher's product 

would have a "much lower" viscosity. Upsher' s Paragraph IV Certification at 9. Upsher further 

explained that an ethylcellulose coating with a viscosity below 40 cp cannot be deemed to be an 

equivalent of the invention claimed in the '743 patent "in view of the arguments and limitations . . 
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made.during the prosecution of the patent." Id. at 12-13. 

40. On or about November 3, 1995, Upsher notified Schering ofits Paragraph N 

Certification and ANDA .filing. 

41. As the first ANDA filer with a Paragraph IV Certification for a generic version of 

Scbering' s K-Dur 20, Upsber became eligible for the 180-day period of marketing exclusivity. 

C. The Schering/Upsher Lawsuit 

42. On or. about December 15, 1995, Scberin:g (through its wholly owned subsidiary, 

Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) filed a lawsuit against Upsher for patent infringement in the United 

States District Court for the District of New Jersey. Schering alleged that Upsher's Klor Con 

M20 infringed the 7 43 patent. 

43. The lawsuit by Schering triggered the statutory waiting period ofup to 30 months 

for final FDA approval of the Upsher product. The 30-month period, calculated to begin from 

the time that the pioneer company receives notice of the ANDA and Paragraph IV certification, 

was scheduled to expire in May, 1998. 

44. Upsher vigorously contested Schering's lawsuit from the outset. On or about 

October 29, 1996, Upshermoved for summary judgment on the issue of its non-infringement of 

the '743 patent. In its brief filed in support of its motion, Upsher stated that Schering's 

"overriding goal in" its patent infringement lawsuit was "delay'' to "obtain the maximum benefit" 

from the 30-month statutory period. · 

45. The central issue in the Scbering-Upsher lawsuit was whether the claims of the '743 

Patent, each of which requires the use of ethylcellulose with a viscosity of greater than 40 cp as a 

coating material, were infringed either literally or under the Doctrine of Equivalents ("DOE") by 
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Upsher' s K1or-ConM20 product. To prevail in the lawsuit, Schering had the affirmative burden of 

proving infringement by a preponderance aftbe evidence Vlhile then:i is a rebuttable presumption 

that a patent is valid, there is no corresponding presumption that a patent is infringed. 

46. From the time Schering filed its '7 43 patent suit, and continuing through the date of 

the settlement, Schering and Upsher knew with absolute certainty that Upsher' s product did not 

literally infringe the claims of the '743 Patent because it was undisputed that (a) Upsher's K1or

ConM20 product utilized ethylcellulose with a viscosity of only 20 cp; while (b) the '743 patent 

claimed a product containing ethylcellulose with a viscosity of greater than 40 cp. With no available 

claim of literal infringement, Schering was forced to allege infringement under the DOE. 

4 7. Schering and Up sher also knew ( or should have known) at the time Schering filed its 

suit that Schering's DOE claim was very weak. The DOE only applies if each limitation of the 

claim, or a substantial equivalent, is found in an accused product or process. The equivalents 

permitted under the DOE are limited to minor variations that differ insubstantially from the 

limitations recited in the claim. However, the DOE is the exception, not the rule. If the public 

comes to believe that the language of patent claims can never be relied on, and that the DOE is just 

the second step in every infringement charge, regularly available to extend the scope of patent 

protection beyond the scope of the claims, then the claims will cease to serve their intended purpose. 

48. There are certain legal limitations on the DOE that may prohibit its application. For 

exan:iple, if a patent applicant must narrow a claim or distinguish prior art to convince the Patent 

Examiner to allow the patent, then the patent owner cannot later argue that the subject matter that it 

·disclaimed in order to obtain approval of the patent was, in fact, covered by the patent under the 

DOE. This limitation is known as "prosecution history estoppel", because the patent owner is 
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estopped from asserting a claim for equivalency that would cover the subject matter disclaimed 

during the prosecution of the patent application 

49. Given the amendments and statements made during prosecution of the '743 Patent, 

especially Schering' s addition of the 40 cp viscosity requirement, in order to obtain the '7 43 patent, 

Schering was estopped from seelcing to extend its patent claims under the DOE in a manner that 

would include ethylcellulose with a viscosity ofless than (or equal to) 40 cp. In fact, Schering's 

statements to the USPTO :inade clear that ethylcellulose with a viscosity of 9-11 cp would not 

provide adequate extended release qualities. Thus, at the time Schering filed its suit against Upsher, 

Schering lmew that it had unequivocaIIy given up ethylcellulose with a viscosity of9-11 cp, and also 

knew ( or should have lmown) that it had given up ethylceliulose with a viscosity less than 40 cp, as it 

had added that limitation iri order to obtain the '7 43 patent in the first place. Indeed, by identifying 

for the Examiner, but deliberately failing to claim, a commercially-available grade of ethylcellulose 

having a viscosity between 18 and 22 cp, Schering relinquished any coverage for that grade of 

ethylcellulose under the DOE. Schering could not reasonably expect to encompass under the DOE 

subject matter (i.e., ethyl cellulose having a viscosity between 18 and 22 cp) not examined by the 

USPTO as a direct result of Schering's deliberate decision not to claim it.. A party simply cannot 

escape substantive USP TO review by claiming its invention narrowly and then seeking broad scope 

under the DOE. 

50. Accordingly, when Schering filed suit, Schering lmew or should have Irnown that its 

likelihood of succeeding on its infringement claim was very remote. 

51. This already remote likelihood of success got dramatically worse on March 3, 1997, 

when the United States Supreme Court decided Wamer Jenkinson Co. v. Hilton Davis Chemical Co., 
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520 U.S. 17 (1997), which significantly curtailed the DOE and essentially foreclosed the position 

Schering asserted in the '743 patent litigation Warner Jenkinson not only limited the scope of 

equivalency that would be accorded under the DOE, but also affirmed the preclusive effect of 

prosecution history estoppel on the DOE when claims are narrowed in response to prior art rejections 

by the USPTO. 

· 52. · Accordjng to the Warner Jenldnson Court, the _"the doctrine of equivalents must be 

applied to individual elements of the claim, not to the invention as a whole." Id. at 29. Thus, rather 

than arguing that Upsher' s Klor-ConM20 product was equivalent to the claimed invention viewed as 

a whole, Schering would be required to show that the specific ethylcellulose utilized in Upsher's 

Klor-ConM20 product was equivalent to the specific viscosity ethylcellulose required by the claims 

of the '743 Patent. Given Schering's arguments to the USPTO that ethylcellulose with a viscosity 

greater than 40 cp was critical, Schering faced a tremendous hurdle in arguing to the trial court that 

ethylcellulose with a viscosity of only 20 cp (which Upsher's product indisputably contained) was 

equivalent to Schering's greater than 40 cp product. 

53. Warner Jenkinson also bolstered the doctrine of prosecution history estoppel, and the 

preclus~ve effect this doctrine has on the DOE in situations where a patentee narrows the scope of a 

claim during the prosecution at the Patent & Trademark Office. 

54. The Warner Jenkinson Court repeatedly suggested that prosecution history estoppel 

could bar application of the DOE altogether as to a claim limitation added during prosecution. For 

example, the Court stated: "Thus, under the particular facts of a case, if prosecution history estoppel 

would apply ... , partial or complete judgment should be rendered by the court, as there would be no 

further material issue for the jury to resolve." Id. at 39 n.8. 
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55. It was undisputed that Schering had narrowed the claims in the '743 Patent by 

adding the ethylcellulose viscosity limitation of greater tbau 40 cp following a prior art rejection. 

There was no question that prosecution history estoppel would apply as to this limitation and the 

Warner Jenkinson decision suggested that Schering would not be entitled to any equivalents as to 

the ethylcellulose viscosity limitation. Consequently, the Warner Jenkinson decision sounded 

the death lmell for Schering' s claim of infringement under the doctrine of equivalents. 

56. On or about June 17, 1997, the court presiding over the '743 patent case (Judge 

Walls of the District of New Jersey) conducted a Markman Hearing to determine the scope of 

Schering's '743 Patent claims. At that hearing, the Court made comments evidencing the 

wealmess of Schering's DOE claim. For instance, in discussing Schering's statements to the 

patent examiner limiting the scope of its patent claims to ethylcellulose with a viscosity greater 

than 40 cp, the Court asked Schering, "Aren't you stuck by what you say? Don't words mean 

anything?" · The Court also criticized Schering' s argument that Upsher' s 20 cp product was 

equivalent to Schering's greater .than 40 cp product, stating "Think of, visualize 40 equaling 20, 

equaling 10, even in a qualitative sense, unless it's spelled out." 

57. Based on the facts and law pertaining to Schering's '743 patent suit, as detailed 

above, it was a virtual certainty, as of June 17, 1997 that, absent a settlement, Upsher would have 

won the '743 patent suit. 

D. Settlement Negotiations and the Schering/Upsher Agreement 

58. On March 6, 1997, the FDA granted Upsher tentative approval for its ANDA for 

a generic version ofK-Dur 20. Shortly thereafter, in April or May of 1997, through June 17, 

1997 (the date of the Markman Hearing), Schering and Upsher engaged in settlement talks. 
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According to the sworn testimony of Martin Driscoll, then Vice-President of Sales and 

Marketing for Key Phannac©Uticals, the Sobering subsidiary that filed the litigation, at the first of 

these settlement conferences, Ian Troup, CEO of Upsher, demanded between $60 million and 

$70 million in cash to settle the litigation. Driscoll FTC Investigative Hearing testimony at 66. 

Martin Driscoll further testified that Upsher wanted such a_payment to stay off.the i:narket. Id. at 

. 71. Upsher repeatedly; throughout the negotiations, insisted on receiving payments to 

compensate it for the income it would have earned absent its agreement to delay entering the 

market with its generic version ofK-Dur 20. 

59. Schering recognized that a naked payment to Upsher to not market a competing 

product would iikelyrun afoul of the antitrust laws. See, October 26, 2001 deposition testimony 

of J obn Hoffinan, Schering' s in-house antitrust counsel, at pp. 31-35. Schering and Upsher then 

sought to devise a settlement agreement which would have the practical effect of paying Upsher 

to stay off the market, but would contain terms that concealed this anticompetitive purpose and 

effect in an effort to avoid antitrust scrutiny. 

60. On or about June 17, 1997, the day of the critical Markman Hearing to determine 

the scope of Schering 's patent, on the eve of trial, and with Upsher' s motion for summary 

judgment still pending, Schering and Upsher agreed to settle the patent litigation. The settlement 

was not filed with the court, nor were the settlement terms placed on the record. The settlement 

was designed, in part, to prevent a judicial ruling on Schering's claim of patent infring~ment in 

favor of Upsher, a ruling which would have permitted Upsher to obtain final FDA approval. As 

detailed above, a ruling of non-infringement in Upsher's favor was a virtual certainty. 

61. Under the terms of the Schering/Upsher settlement agreement, Schering made $60 
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million in cash payments to Upsher. Recognizing that the agreement would violate the antitrust 

laws if this payment were made explicitly in exchange for an agreement from Upshe1 to not 

compete with Schering in the 20 meq potassium chloride market, the parties set about devising a 

scheme whereby they would create a false justification for the payments to avoid antitrust 

. ,crutiny. The Defendants drafted the agreement to create the false impression that these 

payments were 1n exchange for certain products which Upsher purported to cross-license to 

· Schering. As detailed below, these payments were actually in exchange for Upsher's agreement 

to stay off the market for four years. 

62. Schering's $60 million in payments to Upsher were unconditional - i.e., Upsher 

would keep the entire $60 million, even if the products it cross-licensed to Schering were totally 

worthless. (Indeed, Upsher would --- and did --- keep the entire $60 million even if it did not 

seek or obtain FDA approval for the cross-licensed products). Moreover, Upsher agreed to 

refrain from entering the market with the allegedly infringing generic version ofK-Dur 20 or 

with any other generic versions of K-Dur 20, regardless of whether such versions would infringe 

a Schering patent, until September 2001. Both parties agreed to stipulate to the dismissal of the 

litigation without prejudice. 

(1) The Worthless Cross-Licenses 

63. As noted above, Schering and Upsher created ·a scheme by which the payments 

from Schering to Upsher were purported to be in exchange for foreign cross-licenses to five 

pharmaceutical products which Upsher would grant to Schering. Schering never sold four of 

these products, and made'insubstantial sales of the fifth. 

64. In defending the tenns of the agreement, Schering and Upsher have in essence 
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acknowledged that four of these products were worthless, but have alleged that both Upsher and 

. Schering had a good faith belief that one of the products, a ui acin product lrnov.zn as Niacor SR, 

had the potential to be a successful product for Schering, based on the revenues for cholesterol

lowering agents generally. 

65. In reality, Niacor SR was also virtually worthless, and both Schering and Upsher 

were aware of this fact at the time of settlement. As a result, the licenses from Up sher to 

Schering were far from adequate consideration for Schedng's $60 million payments to Upsher; 

in fact, those payments were for delay, rather than for the licenses. 

66. In March, 1997, three months prior to the settlement of the litigation, Upsher 

conducted a situational analysis ofNiacor SR Tablets. This analysis noted several problems with 

NiacorSR: 

(A) Niacor SR would not be marketed until two years after Kos Pharmaceuticals 

marketed its own sustained release niacin product, Niaspan. This two year period would 

give Kos a strong position in the market before Niacor SR even entered. 

(B) Upsher's intent was to market Niacor SR as a cholesterol-lowering agent. By 

March 1997, that therapeutic need had come to be dominated by the statins (i.e., Lipitor, 

Pravachol). 

(C) The niacin market was flat, in terms of dollars, primarily due to the fact that it 

did not actually have an FDA-approved indication as a cholesterol-lowering agent. 

(D) There was substantial negative press about niacin therapy causing problematic 

side-effects, including flushing and hepatoxicity. 

(E) Of critical importance, before the settlement agreement was confected, 
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Upsher's analysis advised that, while the cholesterol-lowering products as a whole were 

earning roughly $2 billion annually, this v,ras primarily the result of sales of the statins. hI 

fact, of the $2 billion referenced above, niacin products were responsible for roughly $13 

million annually and declining. USiv.IDLA 13130-13143. 

67. Less than a month after agreeing to license Niacor SR to Schering, purportedly for 

$60·million, other analyses created.at Upsher frankly admit that Kos' product was highly superior 

to Upsher's. Niacor SR was a twice-daily product, while Niaspan was a once-daily, resulting in 

·greater patient compliance .. Niacor SR;s clinical results were secondary to Kos in terms of 

hepatoxicity and cholesterol results; thus, Upsher recognized that Kos' product was more 

effective, with fewer negative side-effects. While this second analysis was completed one month 

after the settlement agreement, the analysis was consistent with the pre-settlement analysis 

described above, and was based on information that was available to Upsher prior to the 

settlement. USiv.IDLA 15529-15537. See, also, memorandum dated August 12, 1997, two 

months after the settlement, noting that, in addition to entering the market later than Niaspan, 

"Based on the information at hand, it would seem that the product [Niacor SR] would also be 

inferior to the Niaspan product." USiv.IDLA 11931-11933. 

68. Moreover, prior to licensing Niacor SR to Schering, Upsher had engaged in an 

intensive world-wide effort to license Niacor SR to any pharmaceutical company that might be 

interested. After contacting at least 32 different companies, Upsher found no takers for a Niacor 

SR license. Indeed, most of the companies showed little if any interest in Niacor SR, and those 

that expressed some initial interest were driven away by the limited potential of the product, as 

well as concerns about its safety. 
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69. Up sher was not the only party to the settlement agreement that was aware of the 

trends regarding the use of niacin to treat high cholesterol. Only eight days bef01 e Schering 

entered into the settlement agreement with Upsher, Martin Driscoll, Vice-President of Sales and 

Marketing for the Key Pharmaceuticals business unit of Schering, recommended that Schering 

discontinue discussions with Kos to co-promote Kos' superior sustained release niacin product, 

Niaspan. SP 002719-2722. 

70. Mr. Driscoll's recommendation, which Schering followed, was based on a detailed 

analysis which included the following factors: 

(A) the principal reason for discontinuing these discussions was that Niaspan "does not 

represent a large-enough opportunity in the marketplace, thus sufficient revenues would not be 

available to Schering~Plougb. to warrant our involvement and distraction from our core business". 

(B) The distraction from Schering's core business would include lost opportunity sales 

Schering would experience with its current brands due to a shift of promotional focus to Niaspan. 

Other discussions which took place in this time frame confirm that Sohering was greatly 

concerned about the level of commitment and number of physician "details" (i.e., office visits to 

physicians by pharmaceutical sales representatives) required of the Schering sales force to 

market such a niacin product, especially m ligb.t of its limited commercial potential, and the 

existing negative perception of niacin products in the marketplace. 

(C) Mr. Driscoll expressed concern over side effects, especially flushing and 

hepatoxicity, associated with all niacin products. 

(D) Mr. Driscoll felt that the statins domination of the treatment of high cholesterol 

meant "Niaspan's market opportunity is narrowing even prior to its introduction.'' Driscoll noted 
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that physicians had at one time prescribed diet and exercise as the primary treatment for high 

cholesterol, followed by niacin therapy if this ,.x,ras unsuecessful, and tumed to the statins only as 

a last resort. By 1997, the statins were the first line treatment, not the last resort, to the detriment 

of all niacin products. 

(E) Even with 3-5 years of market exclusivity under Hatch-Waxman (which Niaspan 

would have, but which Niacor SR would not have), Mr. Driscoll felt the market opportunity for 

Niaspan was not sufficient to warrant Schering continuing the discussions. 

71. For the reasons explained above, ( a) Upsher and Schering both knew that Kos was 

launching a superior product, (b) the niacin portion of the cholesterol-lowering therapeutic area 

was small and diminishing, and ( c) Schering was not interested in promoting a product far 

superior to Upsher's because it did not represent a sufficient market opportunity for them. These 

facts demonstrate that the settlement agreement was, in fact, confected in bad faith, with the 

specific intent to circumvent the antitrust laws. 

72. Moreover, Schering accepted the Upsher licenses even though Schering conducted 

virtually no due diligence regarding the licensed products, especially Niacor SR. While Schering 

declined the Niaspan opportunity because, among other reasons, Kos refused to provide certain 

data Schering deemed necessary to adequately conduct due diligence, Schering accepted the 

Niacor SR license --- purportedly in exchange for $60 million in unconditional payments --- even 

though Schering (1) asked for less information about Niacor SR than it requested about Niaspan; 

and (2) Upsher failed to provide most (if not all) of the information Schering did request. 

73. Likewise, in assessing the Niacor SR license, Schering purposely failed to even 

consider its own previously conducted in-depth analysis of the pros and cons of niacin products 
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in the cholesterol-lowering therapeutic area in conjunction with Niaspan. As detailed above, this 

analysis revealed significant coucems, leading Schering to reject an opportunity to market the 

superior Kos product. 

7 4. Upon completion of the settlement, Schering never marketed the licensed Niacor 

SR product. In fact, Schering never even objected when Upsher informed them that, shortly after 
. . 

the settlement was· completed, Upsher would not even continue to seek FDA approval for Niacor 

SR, and unilaterally abandoned the.product. This post-settlement behavior indicates that 

Schering never had, at any time, any legitimate belief that the product had any significant 

commercial value. 

E. Upsher Receives Final FDA Approval In November 1998, But Stays Off The 

Market Pursuant To The Schering!Upsher Agreement 

75. On November 20, 1998, Upsher received final FDA approval to market its Klor 

Con M20 generic version of Schering's K.-Dur 20. 

76. However, pursuant to and because of its market allocation agreement with 

Schering, Upsher did not market Klor Con M20, nor did it attempt to develop another generic 

version of Schering's K-Dur 20. As a result, the 180-day period of exclusivity obtained by 

Upsher, which should have commenced with a patent litigation victory for Upsher and final 

approval from the FDA, was delayed. 

77. . On September 1, 2001, almost three full years after receiving final approval from 

the FDA, Upsher, in accordance with the settlement agreement, launched a generic version ofK-

Dur 20. This generic was priced at a 35% discount to branded K-Dur 20. By April, 2002, after 

market entry of other competing generic versions ofK-Dur 20, the generic price dropped to a 
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47% discount from the branded price. By December 2002, the discount was 72%. 

F. The Schering/AHP Agreement 

78. On December 29, 1995, ESI, a division of defendant A.HP, submitted an ANDA 

to the FDA to market its own generic version of Schering's K-Dur 20. ESI submitted a 
. . . . . . 

. . . . 

Paragraph IV Certification and notified Schering of its Paragraph IV Certification and ANDA 

filing. 

79. ESI planned to launch its generic version ofK-Dur 20 after Upsher's 180-day 

period of exclusivity hac:i expired .. 

80. On or about February 16, 1996, Schering (through its subsidiary, Key 

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) sued ESI for patent infringement in the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Pennsylvania, alleging that ES I's generic version of Schering's K-Dur 20 

infringed its 743 patent. Schering's lawsuit triggered the statutory waiting period. 

81. By the end of January 1998, Schering and AHP/ESI had reached an agreement in 

principle to settle their patent litigation, and Schering's lawsuit was dismissed with prejudice. 

82. Pursuant to their market allocation agreement, Schering agreed to pay ESI up to 

$30 million. AHP/ESI agreed to refrain from marketing the allegedly infringing generic version 

of K-Dur 20, and agreed to refrain from marketing any other generic version of K-Dur 20, 

regardless.of whether such product would infringe a Scheringpatent, until January 2004 (more 

than two years after Upsher would be permitted to enter the market under the terms of its own 

market allocation agreement with Schering). AHP/ ESI agreed to refrain from marketing more 

than one generic version of K-Dur 20 between January 2004 and September 2006. AHP/ESI also 
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agreed not to conduct, sponsor, file or support a study of the bioequivalence of any product to K

D:ur 20 prior to Sept©mber'2006, v.rhen the K Dur 20 patent will expite. Schering agreed to pay 

ESI $5 million up front; an additional $10 million ifESI could demonstrate that its generic 

version ofK-Dur 20 was able to be approved by the FDA under an ANDA on or before June 30, 

1999; and another $15 million for licenses of two generic products that ESI was developing. The 

payments for the licenses included $5 million to be paid within ten days of execution of the 

agreement, plus $10 million to be paid in annual instalhnents .over seven years. 

83. Schering has made no sales of the two products it licensed from ESL The $15 

million license payment was not based on the value of the products licensed, but rather was based 

on the amount that AHP/ESI wanted in order to keep its generic version ofK-Dur 20 out of the 

market. fudeed, by the very terms of the settlement agreement, the initial payment from Schering 

to ESI of $5 million, and the first subsequent payment of $10 million (contingent upon the date 

of FDA approval for ESI's ANDA) were in no way related to the cross-license agreements; such 

payments were solely in exchange for ESI's agreement not to compete. 

84. On or about June 19, 1998, Schering and AHP/ESI executed their final settlement 

agreement, and the prior dismissal of the lawsuit, without prejudice, was changed to a dismissal 

with prejudice. 

85. Schering has paid ESI over $20 million in exchange for its agreement not to 

compete in the 20 meq potass.ium chloride market. 

86. ESI received approval of its ANDA from the FDA on May 11, 1999, but was not 

eligible for final approval at that time, as Upsher's .180-day Exclusivity Period had not expired. 

fudeed, at that time Upsher's 180-day Exclusivity Period had not even begun to run, as per 
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Upsher's market allocation agreement with Schering. 

87 · Before it entered into its oi;i;m market allocation agreement ,;vifu Sch€lring, ESI 

reportedly had obtained a copy of the Schering/Upsher agreement and had accused Schering of 

intentionally blocking or delaying the start of generic competition. 

88. In their patent litigation, ESI moved to compel Schering to produce a copy of the 

Schering/Upsher agreement. ESI argued in its brief, filed in August, 1997, that the agreement 

"may have been crafted collusively with anticompetitive purpose, and is therefore reasonably 

calculated to be admissible evidence of patent misuse or fill antitrust violation." 

89. The court granted ESI's motion, and ordered Schering to produce the 

Schering/Upsher agreement to ESL The court stated that, if the agreement ope~ated to restrict the 

start of generic competition, the "agreement may be an illegal restraint on trade and constitute 

patent misuse." 

90. Rather than challenge the legality of the Schering/Upsher agreement, however, 

ARP elected to join Upsher in allocating the market to Schering, in return for a multi-million 

dollar payout. 

G. Impact of the Illegal Agreements on other Generic Companies 

91. Another company engaged in the development and marketing of generic drugs, 

Andrx Corporation ("Andrx"), filed an ANDA for a generic version of Schering's K-Dur 20 on or 

about June 2, 1999. 

92. Schering did not sue Andrx for infringement of the '7 43 patent. 

93. Andrx, however, could not market its product until Upsher's 180-day Exclusivity 

Period had run; As noted with ESI/ARP, in Paragraph 63, supra, Upsher's 180-day Exclusivity 
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Period had not yet even begun to run. 

94 When Up sher' s 180 days of exclusivity expired, l\ndrA:, and another generic 

manufacturer, Ethex, entered the market in April 2002. ESI did not enter the market in April 

2002, as the terms of its market allocation agreement with Schering prevented such entry until 

January 1, 2004. In this interim period, ESI has since discontinued the sale of all generic 

pharmaceutical products. · 

95. 
"1:1· ..-.··/'' 

Immediately after entry ?f these "second wave" generics (Andrx and Ethex), 

generi~ K-Dur 20 was sold, on average,' at a 47% discount to the branded price. By December 

2002, generic 20 meq potassium chloride supplements were sold at a 72% discount as compared 

to the price of K-Dur 20 prior to generic entry in September 2001. 

96. But for the illegal market allocation agreements, multiple generics would have 

entered the market substantially earlier than April 2002. When multiple generics enter the 

market, the generic discount to the brand name price gets even steeper, consistent with the data 

described in the previous paragraph. During the period in which multiple generics were kept off 

the market, members of the Direct Purchaser class were overcharged even more for 20 meq 

potassium chloride' supplements. 

VI. RELEVANT PRODUCT AND GEOGRAPIDC MARKETS 

97. These illegal agreements delayed generic entry and deprived plaintiff and other 

purchasers of cheaper generic versions ofK-Dur 20. Therefore, Defendants illegal agreements 

caused direct, actual anticompetitive effects, in the form of overcharges, as detailed herein. 

Thus, as a matter oflaw, there is no need for plaintiffs to identify a specific relevant market. 

98. Insofar as the definition of the relevant geographic market is at issue, however, the 
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inarket is the United States. 

99. fusofar as the de:pnitian aftbe relevant prnduct market is at isme, it is 20 

milliequivalent ·extended-release potas1,;ium chloride tablets and capsules approved by the FDA. 

Alternatively, the relevant product market is: all potassium chloride supplements approved by the 

FDA. 

100. At all times relevant herein, entry into the relevant market was restricted and 

unlikely to diminish Schering's market share. Before entry could occur, potential entrants were 

required to, inter alia, file an NDA or an ANDA with the FDA, and obtain FDA final approval. 

At all relevant times, only one NDA for a new potassium chloride supplement was pending 

before the FDA. That NDA, for a powder form, has not been approved; and, even if it were 

approved, because of the disadvantages of potassium chloride powders compared to tablets, a 

new potassium chloride powder would be unlikely to diminish Schering's market share. If a new 

NDA were to be filed with the FDA, final approval would likely take a minimum of 12-18 

months. 

VII. EFFECTS OF DEFENDANTS' ILLEGAL CONDUCT 

101. Upsher received final FDA approval to market its generic substitute for Schering's 

K-Dur 20 product on November 20, 1998. Upsher, however, failed to begin marketing it~ 

generic substitute on November 20, 1998, and failed to do so until September 1, 2001, because of 

its market allocation agreement with Schering. 

102. The terms of the market allocation agreement between Schering and Upsher 

allocated the 20meq pota~sium chloride market to Schering-Plough until September 1, 2001 in 
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exchange for illegal payments of $60 million. But for the agreement, including the illegal 

payment portion of the agreement, earlier entry ofUpsher's geMric version ofK-Dttr 20 woqld 

have occurred in one of two alternative ways: (a) the litigation would have continued, and Upsher 

would have prevailed, obtaining a judgment that the '7 43 patent was invalid and/or not infringed, 

and Upsher would have entered the market with its generic version of K-Dur 20 by no later than 

November 20, 1998, or, (b) the parties would have entered into a good-faith settlement 

agreement for similar value, which would not include the illegal "exclusion" payments, but 

instead would have provided for a license permitting Upsher to enter the market earlier than 

September 1, 2001. Under the second alternative, Plaintiffs allege that "but for" the illegal 

settlement (including the $60 million payment), the litigation would not have continued, but 

rather that Schering and Upsher would have settled for a license which would have allowed 

earlier entry than that provided for in the actual settlement, which included the illegal payments; 

or, a third alternative, (c) Upsher would have launched its generic after receiving final FDA 

approval regardless of whether the litigation remained pending. 

103. Under each alternative, the Schering/Upsher settlement agreement, including the 

payment of $60 million, delayed generic competition to Schering's K-Dur 20 product. 

104. The Schering/Upsher agreement also delayed entry by other potential generic 

competitors. As the first ANDA filer for a generic version ofK-Dur 20, Upsher was entitled to 

i 80 days of market exclusivity before any other competitor could enter with its own generic 

version of K-Dur 20. By agreeing to dismiss the patent infringement action between them 

without prejudice, Schering and Upsher avoided a court decision that would have either: (a) 

triggere9- the start of this 180-day Exclusivity Period in the event that Up sher prevailed; or (b) 
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resulted in its forfeiture in the event Schering prevailed. Under the Schering/Upsher agreement, 

Upsber cm1Jd not begin marketing its g©nmc substitute until September 2001, at the earliest. No 

other company could obtain final FDA approval of an ANDA to market or sell a generic version 

ofK-Dur 20, however, until 180 days after Upsher first sold its product. Thus, pursuant to the 

agreement, no additional generic competitor could enter the market until March 2002, at the 

earliest, as Up sher began marketing in September 2001. Within a month of the expiry of 

Upsher's 180 days exclusivity, multiple generic manufacturers entered the 20 meq potassium 

chloride supplement market. 

105. The Schering/AHP agreement also blocked generic competition by providing 

ARP with large cash payments to induce it to cease its efforts to bring its generic versio~ ofK

Dur 20 to market, which efforts included challenging Upsher's right to exclusivity and/or 

challenging the Schering/Upsher agreement as violative of the antitru~t laws. 

106. But for defendants' illegal agreements, ARP could have, and would have, come to 

market with its generic product on or about May 1999 at the latest. Had the patent litigation 

between Schering and Upsher continued, ESI would have entered six months after Upsher's 

launch following a patent litigation victory. Had the Schering/Upsher patent litigation settled, 

allowing a license to Upsher, ESI would have subsequently either (a) achieved its own patent 

litigation victory, or (b) negotiated a similar license for early entry by May 1999. 

107. The agreements of defendants as alleged above have had the purpose and effect of 

restraining competition by preventing and/or discouraging the entry of generic K-Dur 20 

substitutes. 

108. Bymaldng cash payments to Upsher and AHPiESI, Schering induced them to 
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agree to delay launching gener:i,c versions of K-Dur 20. 

109. As a result of defendants' conduct as herein a1leged, plaintiff and the Class of 

direct purchasers ofK-Dur 20 were unable to substitute a cheaper generic for their purchases of 

Schering's K-Dur 20 until September 1, 2001. But for the unlawful agreements described above, 

Upsher would have entered the market with a generic version ofK-Dur 20 at least as early as 

November 20, 1998, when it received final FDA approval, and A.HP would have entered with a 

second generic no later than May 1999, when Upsher's 180-day exclusivity period would have 

expired. 

110. In addition, certain direct purchasers have paid more for brand-name K-Dur 20 

than they would have paid absent defendants' agreements, because they would have received 

discounts or increased discounts on the brand name product if that product had been faced with 

generic competition. 

VUI. CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

111. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of itself and the following Class: 

All persons or entities who have purchased K-Dur 20 directly from 
Schering at anytime during the period November 20, 1998, through September 1, 
2001. 

Excluded from the Class are Defendants and their officers, directors, management and 

employees, subsidiaries and affiliates, as well as federal government entities. Also excluded are 

persons or entities who have neither purchased generic versions of K-Dur 20, nor obtained 

increased discounts on brand name K-Dur 20, after the introduction of generic versions of K-Dur 

20. 

112. Members of the Class are so numerous thatjoinder of all members is 
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impracticable. Direct purchasers ofK-Dur 20 include wholesalers, hospitals, health maintenance 

organizations, and retail chain dmg stores The exact identities of Class members are 

ascertainable from, among other sources, the records· of defendant Scher:ing. 

113. Plaintiffs claimB are typical of the Class. Plaintiff and all members of the Class 

have been, and are being, injured by the same wrongful conduct of the defendants, i.e., they have 

been, and are, unable to purchase a cheaper generic substitute for K-Dur 20. In addition, they 

have been, and are being, deprived of discounts on.purchases ofK-Dur 20 because of the 

elimination or delay of generic competition. 

114. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of the Class. 

The interests of the plaintiff are coincident with, and not antagonistic to, those of the Class. 

Every class member has the same legal interest in recovering the overcharge damages caused by 

the Defendants' illegal agreements. Moreover, since multiple generic versions ofK-Dur 20 are 

now on the market, Plaintiff is not seeking :injunctive relief, but rather is seeking only monetary 

relief in the form of overcharges. Since Plaintiff and all Class members have incurred 

overcharge damages and have the legal right to recover such damages, Plaintiff and all Class 

members have the identical interest in recovering those overcharges (regardless of the 

downstream or net economic effect of the overcharge on any Class member). 

115. Plaintiff is represented by counsel who are experienced and competent in the 

prosecution of complex antitrust class actions. 

116. Common questions predominate over any questions that may affect only 

individual Class members,·and a Class action is superior to other available alternatives to 

adjudicating the claims of direct purchasers. 

33 



A-239

117. Common questions oflaw and fact exist as to all members of the Class. Among 

those questions are the following: 

a. whether the agreement between Schering and Upsher is a per se violation 

of federal antitrust law; 

b. whether the agreement between Schering and AHP/ESI is a per se 

yiolcttfon of federal antitrust law; . 

c. whether defendants' conduct is otherwise a violation of Section 1 of the · 

Sherman Act; 

d. whether the agreements between Schering and Upsher and between 

Schering and AHP/ESI had the effect of preventing or delaying the entry of one or 

more ge:Q.eric substitutes for K-Dur 20; 

e. whether defendants' unlawful conduct caused plaintiff and Class members 

to pay more for 20 milliequivalent extended-release potassium chloride tablets 

and capsules than they otherwise would have paid; 

f. whether the plaintiff and Class members were injured as a result of 

defendants' conduct; and 

g. the appropriate measure of damages. 

COUNT I (against All Defendants) 

Violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act 

118. Plaintiff incorporates by refer~nce all preceding allegations. 

119. Beginning on or about June 17, 1997, Schering and Upsher engaged in a 

continuing illegal contract, combination and conspiracy in restraint of trade, the purpose and 
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effect of which was to: (a) allocate all sales of 20 milliequivalent extended-release potassium 

chloride tablets and capsules in the United States to Schering; (b) prevent the sale of generic 20 

milliequivalent extended-release potassium chloride tablets and capsules in the United States, 

thereby protecting K-Dur 20 from any generic competition; and ( c) fix the price at which direqt 

purchasers would pay for K-Dur 20 at the higher, branded price. 

120. Beginning no later than January 1998, AHP/ESI joined the continuing illegal 

contract, combination and conspiracy in restraint of trade, which was expanded for the purpose, 

and with the effect, of preventing competition between Schering and AHP/ESI, thereby further 

protecting K-Dur 20 from any generic competition. 

121. By entering into this unlawful conspiracy, defendants have unlawfully conspired 

in restraint of trade and committed a violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 US.C. § I. 

These agreements remain violative of the Sherman Act regardless of whether they are viewed 

under aper se analysis, a "quick look" analysis, or a "rule of reason" analysis. Defendants' 

agreements are horizontal market allocation and price-fixing agreements between actual or 

potential competitors; 

122. Plaintiff and members of the Class have been injured in their business and 

property by reason of defendants' unlawful contract, combination and conspiracy. Plaintiff and 

Class members have paid more on their purchases of K-Dur 20 that they would have otherwise, 

and/or were prevented from substituting a cheaper generic for their purchases of the more 

expensive K-Dur 20. 

PRAYER FOR RELffiF 
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123. Wherefore, plaintiff, on behalf of itself and the Class, respectfully requests that: 

a) The Court determine that this action may be maintained as a class action pursuant to 

Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; 

b) The Court declare that the defendants have committed the violations of the Sherman 

Act alleged herein; 

c) Each Class member recover three-fold the damages deter:niined to have been sustained 

by each of them; and that joint and several judgment be entered against each defendant in favor 

of the Class; 

e) The Class recover its costs of suit, including reasonable attorney's fees as provided by 

law; and 

f) The Class be granted such other relief as the Court etermines to be just. 
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